RECEIVED

Apr 23 2024

SC Court of Appeals

SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of
Appeals

Case No. 2024-000168

Johnathan Daniels, Appellant.

v.

The City Of Cayce, Respondent

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

April 22nd, 2024

Johnathan M. Daniels, Appellant, Pro Se
P.O. Box 30651
Columbia, South Carolina 29230
Phone: (803) 770-8863
Email: chesssetbyj@yahoo.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Because Appellant clearly established before the municipal court that his sincerely held religious beliefs and practices are substantially burdened by Respondent, and Respondent has twice failed to “demonstrate” as required by South Carolina § 1-32 and the state and federal constitutions, Respondent’s municipal judges erred by failing to quash or dismiss the religiously burdensome charges being prosecuted against Appellant.
2. Because Appellant clearly established before the municipal court that his sincerely held religious beliefs and practices are substantially burdened by Respondent, and Respondent has twice failed to “demonstrate” as required by South Carolina § 1-32 and the state and federal constitutions, Respondent has failed to state a crime; therefore Respondent’s municipal judges are acting without jurisdiction in allowing further prosecution of Appellant for his exercise of his statutorily and constitutionally protected rights.
3. The municipal court’s order prohibiting Appellant from presenting his religious exercise defense and any facts related to his religion, exemptions to the application of the laws, or religious accommodation to the jury at trial unlawfully deprives Appellant of his right to a trial by jury.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves an unconstitutional misapplication of State laws by a municipality of State Of South Carolina (hereinafter “State”). The parties are Johnathan Martia Daniels (hereinafter “Appellant”) and City Of Cayce (hereinafter “Respondent”, a municipality of State Of South Carolina, which operates in privity with the State).

On July 22nd, 2021, Appellant was traveling west on 12th street, near Cayce, South Carolina. Appellant had been summoned to the Cayce Municipal Court for a mandatory hearing before the City Of Cayce municipal court, and was traveling in his truck, a green Ford Ranger pickup. For very specific religious reasons, and NOT as a challenge to the state’s authority to regulate use of the public’s roadways, Appellant does not use a state drivers license or vehicle registration. While on his way to court, Appellant was observed by Officer Kathleen Merritt (“Officer Merritt”) of the City Of Cayce Police Department, operating his truck without a State authorized vehicle license plate. Officer Merritt initiated a traffic stop on Appellant and found that Appellant had no drivers license. Appellant did have current insurance coverage on his truck, and an identifying tag on the rear of his privately owned pickup truck. Officer Merritt issued Appellant citations for Driving Without A License, 1st Offense and No Vehicle Registration.

In lieu of towing Appellant’ vehicle, Officer Merritt ordered that Appellant would be allowed to drive to attend the abovementioned court hearing. Appellant did appear at the City Of Cayce municipal court approximately 10 minutes after being ticketed by Officer Merritt.

An initial hearing for the citations issued to Appellant by Officer Merritt was scheduled for an October 19th, 2021 judicial proceeding, with City Of Cayce judge Shannon Bobertz presiding. Prior to the hearing, Appellant had filed a motion to quash both charges. Appellant’s

motion was based on South Carolina § 1-32 and the state and federal constitutions, and presented a defense of unlawful religious burden by the State. At the initial hearing, Appellant argued his Motion To Quash before the municipal court. The State and Federal laws, cited in support of Appellant's motion, required the municipal court to conduct a compelling interest test based on Federal law and U.S. Supreme Court precedent. Upon Appellant's motion and demand that Respondent "demonstrate" as required by South Carolina § 1-32 and the other laws cited, Respondent's prosecutor did not "demonstrate." Judge Bobertz denied Appellant' motion and refused to quash or dismiss the charges against Appellant. Appellant objected to the denial of his motion, and the case proceeded in a normal manner, with Appellant entering a plea of "not guilty" and demanding a jury trial. Three days later, on October 21st Appellant served and filed a motion to reconsider, which was also denied by judge Bobertz. Appellant objected to this denial, and the case proceeded in a normal manner.

On October 31st, 2022, Appellant filed a motion to dismiss based on South Carolina § 1-32 and the State and Federal Constitutions. On November 7th, 2022, at a judicial proceeding before City Of Cayce judge Bryan Jeffries, Appellant argued his motion to dismiss. At this judicial proceeding, Appellant demanded that Respondent "demonstrate" as required by the laws cited in Appellant's written motion. Respondent's prosecutor did not "demonstrate" as required by the laws cited in Appellant's motion. Despite Respondent's failure to meet the requirement to "demonstrate" as required by South Carolina § 1-32 and the Constitutions, judge Jeffries denied Appellant' motion to dismiss. Appellant objected to that denial.

At the same November 7th, 2022 hearing, Respondent's prosecutor made a motion in limine to prohibit Appellant's presentation of his religious burden defense, or any religion related

facts, exemptions, or accommodations to the jury during trial. Judge Jeffries granted this motion made by Respondent. Appellant objected.

After denying Appellant's motion to dismiss, and granting Respondent's motion in limine on November 7th, 2022, Judge Jeffries appointed an attorney, Harry Hancock (hereinafter "Mr. Hancock"), to represent Appellant in this case due to Appellant's indigence.

The following day, Appellant contacted Mr. Hancock concerning this case and expressed his desire to appeal the orders issued by judges Bobertz and Jeffries. Mr. Hancock outright refused to assist or advise Appellant in making and religion based appeal.

Mr. Hancock wrote and stated to Appellant, on multiple occasions, that he would not assist in either (1) the presentation of any defense based on Appellant's right to freedom of religion at trial, or (2) the making of any religion based appeal on Appellant's behalf. Mr. Hancock stated that Appellant would need to make any such appeal to a higher court on his own.

On November 16th, 2022, under the authority of South Carolina § 14-3-330 (2)(a), Appellant filed a notice of appeal with the South Carolina Supreme Court, as well as the municipal court. Respondent was served the same notice on November 14th. 2022. In the appeal, Appellant contested the municipal court's denials of: (1) Appellant' motion to quash, (2) motion to dismiss, as well as (3) judge Jeffries' granting of Respondent's motion in limine, which denied Appellant a meaningful trial by jury. Appellant is not an attorney and is acting for himself.

The South Carolina Supreme Court Clerk made what Appellant believes to be an error in transferring Appellant's November 16th, 2022 appeal to the South Carolina Court Of Appeals. The appeal was made under the authority of South Carolina 14-3-330(2)(a), which specifies that the South Carolina Supreme Court has jurisdiction over appeals in which substantive protected

rights are unlawfully denied. After being transferred to the South Carolina Court Of Appeals, the appeal was dismissed due to a lack of jurisdiction and remitted to the municipal court with an order stating that the appeal must first be made to the circuit court.

Once the case was remitted back to the municipal court, Mr. Hancock still refused to assist Appellant in making the appeal. Due to the lack of legal counsel and abandonment of Appellant by his court appointed legal counsel, Appellant requested that judge Jeffries relieve Mr. Hancock and appoint another attorney. Judge Jeffries granted the request to relieve Mr. Hancock, but denied the request for appointment of another attorney. Appellant objected to the denial of his request for reappointment.

On July 27th, 2023, at Appellant’s earliest opportunity, Appellant filed a notice of appeal in the Lexington County Circuit Court and served Respondent the same notice on July 28th, 2023. Circuit Court judge Debra R. McCaslin heard the appeal on November 28th, 2023. On December 29th, 2023, Judge McCaslin issued an order dismissing the appeal for a lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Appellant became aware of this order on January 5th, 2024.

Appellant objected in writing and filed a notice of objection to the Circuit Court on January 5th, 2024 and served Respondent a notice of appeal on January 29th, 2024. Appellant then filed this appeal with the South Carolina Supreme Court on February 7th, 2024. The appeal has been subsequently referred to the South Carolina Court Of Appeals.

ARGUMENT

A. The South Carolina Supreme Court Has Jurisdiction, And An Obligation, To Decide Appellant’s Appeal On The Merits, Or To Refer The Appeal To The South Carolina Court Of Appeals For A Decision To Be Made On The Merits.

South Carolina § 18-9-10 defines “When appeal may be taken” to the Supreme Court in this State, and it says, “ An appeal may be taken to the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals in

the cases mentioned in Sections 14-3-320 and 14-3-330. The procedure for taking an appeal is as provided by the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules.” South Carolina § 14-3-330 grants appellate jurisdiction to the South Carolina Supreme Court “for correction of errors of law in law cases”, and states that the South Carolina Supreme Court “shall review upon appeal” certain cases. More specifically, South Carolina § 14-3-330 (2)(a) pertains to appeals from, “An order affecting a substantial right made in an action when such order (a) in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action...”

In this present case appealed before this Court, the municipal court’s orders severely deprive Appellant of substantial rights and “in effect determine[s] the action.” This Court’s intervention will “prevent[s] a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinue[s] the action...”

Unlawful violation of Appellant’s un-waived, Constitutionally protected rights is the issue here, and other factors cannot be determinant of a State court’s obligation to correct violations of unwaived Constitutional rights that have already occurred, or which it can prevent. In this case, Appellant is appealing three orders of the municipal court because the orders authorize retaliatory prosecution against Appellant by Respondent in retaliation for Appellant’s exercise of his protected freedom of religion and liberty. The municipal court issued two of these orders in its refusal to quash or dismiss the charges prosecuted against Appellant, despite Respondent, twice, failing to “demonstrate” as required by South Carolina § 1-32 and the State and Federal Constitutions, under the federal strict scrutiny standard.³ These two orders allow

³ Although South Carolina § 1-32 is a state statute, it invokes the compelling interest test, under the federal strict scrutiny standard, as defined by the U. S. Supreme Court. See SECTION 1-32-30...”(1) restore the compelling interest test as set forth in *Wisconsin v. Yoder*, 406 U.S. 205 (1972), and *Sherbert v. Verner*, 374 U.S. 398 (1963), and to guarantee that a test of compelling state interest will be imposed on all state and local laws and ordinances in all cases in which the free exercise of religion is substantially burdened; and (2) provide a claim or defense to persons whose exercise of religion is substantially burdened by the State.

and ratify retaliatory prosecution of Appellant by Respondent, under color of law. See Municipal Court Return.

The third appealed order of the municipal court deprives Appellant of his right to a jury trial, despite his demand for one, by denying Appellant the right to present his sole and only defense to the jury at trial.⁴ On this particular issue, the municipal court has ordered that, at trial, Appellant cannot bring up the subject of his religion, any facts related to his religion, religious exemptions to application of the laws, or religious accommodations in any way, whatsoever. See Municipal Transcript.

This Court please bear in mind that, at no point in this case, has Appellant ever intentionally or knowingly waived: (1) his right to present his South Carolina § 1-32 defense, along with his State and Federal Constitutional defenses; (2) his protected rights to religious freedom and liberty; (3) his protected right to a trial by jury, nor (4) his protected right to counsel. The U.S. Supreme Court has stated that waivers of constitutional rights must be voluntary, knowing, and intelligent acts done with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences. See *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742, 748 (1970) (citing *Brookhart v. Janis*, 384 U.S. 1 (1966)); see also *Schriro v. Landrigan*, 550 U.S. 465, 479 (2007). The record in this case shows that Appellant has never lawfully waived or relinquished any of these protected rights. See Notice Of Appeal, Motion To Reconsider, Motion To Quash, Motion To Dismiss.

Further, the record in this case shows that, over Appellant's objections, the municipal court's orders are unconstitutional orders that have, effectively, already decided the case to Appellant's detriment. **Firstly**, before issuing the orders, the municipal court had already been put on notice that Appellant's purportedly "unlawful" conduct was the result of Appellant's

⁴ Appellant has preliminarily offered a religious exercise defense as his sole and only defense.

sincere religious exercise, and that Appellant objected to being prosecuted, citing an unlawful State imposed substantial religious burden. Therefore, the municipal court's two orders refusing to quash and/or dismiss the charges, despite Respondent repeatedly failing to "demonstrate" as required by law⁵, are unconstitutional. **Secondly**, given that Appellant has demanded a jury trial in this case, the municipal court's order prohibiting Appellant's presentation of his substantial religious burden defense and the facts related thereto before the jury, denies Appellant a meaningful trial by jury, while subjecting Appellant to an unwanted bench trial, and is therefore unconstitutional. Taken together, these orders force Appellant to suffer retaliatory prosecution and a criminal trial, while at the same time stripping Appellant of his prime defense and every relevant Constitutional and statutory legal protection. Under the circumstances of (1) being forced to stand prosecution and trial that he ought not be subjected to, and (2) being stripped of his only legal defense, Appellant has effectively already lost this case and is reasonably certain to be convicted of the charges before the municipal court. See Municipal Transcript.

This circumstance is representative of the type of situation that South Carolina § 14-3-330 (2)(a) is made to prevent. If application of this statute ever mattered at any place, at any time, this Court's adherence to South Carolina § 18-9-10 and § 14-3-330 (2)(a) here in this case is most crucially needed. If an appeal made under South Carolina 14-3-330(2)(a) will be ignored by the South Carolina Supreme Court, and the unconstitutional conduct complained of allowed to proceed until after final judgment, then there would seem to be absolutely no point in the State legislature's enactment of the statute. In Appellant's view, such an interpretation of the statute by this Court would be unreasonable.

⁵ South Carolina § 1-32-40 states (bold and underline added), "The State may not substantially burden a person's exercise of religion, even if the burden results from a rule of general applicability, **unless the State demonstrates that application of the burden to the person is: (1) in furtherance of a compelling state interest; and (2) the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling state interest.**"

The circuit court made a finding that the circuit court has no jurisdiction to hear this appeal due to untimeliness, although the appeal was originally made to the South Carolina Supreme Court in 2022, and referred to the South Carolina Court Of Appeals, which remitted the case, ordering and directing that the appeal must be made to the circuit court. If the circuit court also has no jurisdiction, then it would seem that no state court has jurisdiction to ensure Appellant's constitutionally protected rights are upheld. This Court's refusal to make a merit-based ruling would constitute a circular due process violation that sends Appellant from court to court, in an endless loop. Respondent and the municipal court will have violated Appellant's constitutionally protected rights, and the judiciary of this State offered no recourse. Such a circumstance is not Constitutionally well thought-out.

1. Appellant's appeal is timely

The circuit court ignored the fact that Appellant's appeal was made pursuant to South Carolina § 18-9-10, § 14-3-330 (1) and § 14-3-330 (2)(a) and was only brought to the circuit court because the South Carolina Court of Appeals previously required it to be submitted to the circuit court. Appellant previously appeared and is now appearing Pro Se, and does not claim to understand why that decision was previously made by the South Carolina Court Of Appeals. South Carolina § 14-3-330 (1) pertains to appeals from circuit court cases "brought there by original process or removed" to the circuit court, while South Carolina § 14-3-330 (2)(a) pertains to appeals from, "An order affecting a substantial right made in an action when such order (a) in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action..." Neither South Carolina § 18-9-10 or § 14-3-330 (2)(a) state that an appeal made under those sections MUST be brought before the circuit court before the South Carolina Supreme Court has jurisdiction to hear an appeal challenging unconstitutional orders

that blatantly deprive a party of constitutionally protected substantive rights. Additionally, the third order of the municipal court disallows Appellant's religion based defense, and since the order effectively "strikes out" Appellant's sole defense presented in answer to the charges, that order is be appealable under South Carolina § 14-3-330 (2)(c) which pertains to an order that "strikes out an answer or any part thereof..." (See Municipal Transcript)

Further, the circuit court's finding that this appeal was made under South Carolina § 14-25-95, and that Appellant did not comply with that statute's requirements for appeal is erroneous. Even so, Appellant met the requirements of that statute. Judge McCaslin's order states that, "Appellant's proof of service of his appeal pleading for this action indicates service on the Municipal Court on July 28, 2023..." However, judge McCaslin failed to realize that this was the third notice of intent to appeal served to the municipal court.

Appellant's first written notice of objection and intent to appeal was made in response to municipal judge Bobertz's denial of Appellant's October 19th, 2021 motion to quash, and was served on the municipal court on October 22nd, 2021 (3 days after the order was made). This notice preserved Appellant's objection for later appeal. See Motion To Reconsider.

Appellant's second written notice of objection and intent to appeal was made in response to municipal judge Jeffries' denial of Appellant's motion to dismiss and the judge's granting of Respondent's motion in limine, and was served on the municipal court on November 16th, 2022 (9 days after the order was made). This preserved Appellant's objection to these two orders for appeal. This second notice of appeal, which appealed all three orders, was sent to the South Carolina Supreme Court on November 16th, 2022 (9 days after judge Jeffries made the orders). See Notice Of Appeal.

The South Carolina Supreme Court clerk referred the appeal to the South Carolina Court Of Appeals, which, for reasons still unknown to Appellant⁶, dismissed the Appeal due to a lack of jurisdiction, citing that the appeal must be brought in the circuit court. The case was then remitted to the municipal court in March of 2023.

The only other timeliness issue addressed by judge McCaslin is the period of time that passed between the remittance of the case from the South Carolina Court Of Appeals back to the municipal court. Appellant clearly established before the circuit court that his court appointed attorney (hereinafter “Mr. Hancock”) provided ineffective assistance of counsel regarding making the appeal, refusing to assist in the matter for the entire duration of his appointment. This was the sole cause of the delay in making the appeal to the circuit court once the case was remitted. At the circuit court hearing, Appellant provided E-mails to the judge McCaslin, which showed that Mr. Hancock refused to make the appeal and refused to assist Appellant with making the appeal. It was explained to judge McCaslin that, Mr. Hancock, who was appointed by the municipal court on November 7th, 2022, was ineffective. (See Circuit Court Transcript)

Mr. Hancock refused to assist Appellant in making any religion-based appeal or presenting any such argument at trial. Mr. Hancock incorrectly reasoned that no free exercise violation occurred because the statutes under which Appellant was charged were both neutral and generally applicable. Mr. Hancock was stunningly incorrect regarding general applicability

⁶ South Carolina § 18-9-10 reveals that South Carolina Supreme Court has jurisdiction to hear and decide appeals made under South Carolina § 14-3-330 (2)(a), and that section differs from South Carolina § 14-3-330 (1) in that section South Carolina § 14-3-330 (1) pertains to appeals “commenced in the court of common pleas and general sessions, brought there by original process or removed there from any inferior court or jurisdiction”, while South Carolina § 14-3-330 (2)(a) mentions nothing about any requirement that an appeal made under that section must come from a circuit court. In fact, the deliberate language used in South Carolina § 14-3-330 (1) regarding the requirement that it pertains to appeals from a circuit court, and the absence of such language in South Carolina § 14-3-330 (2)(a), seems to indicate that appeals brought under South Carolina § 14-3-330 (2)(a) do not have to come through a circuit court. This must be the case because, as circuit court judge McCaslin’s order indicates, the circuit court has no jurisdiction to hear such an appeal unless it is an appeal “from the sentence or judgment of the municipal court,” as required by S.C. Code § 14-25-95. If the South Carolina Court Of Appeals had no jurisdiction to decide the case on the merits once the Supreme Court referred the case, then either, such cases must not be referred, or South Carolina § 14-3-330 (2)(a) is a dead and useless piece of legislation.

of the laws. His reasoning may have been proper under *Employment Div., Dept. of Human Resources of Ore. v. Smith*, 494 U. S. 872 (1990), but was totally incorrect considering South Carolina § 1-32. The compelling interest test imposed by South Carolina § 1-32 bypasses *Smith's* neutrality and general applicability barriers to strict scrutiny, and the statute says so in the plain reading of its text.⁷ (See Emails).

Mr. Hancock refused to assist Appellant because he refused to recognize that under a compelling interest test and strict scrutiny, determination of a compelling interest cannot be done at a general or high level. Instead, strict scrutiny requires that courts determine if the state has a compelling interest to deny an exemption to each particular religious claimant, individually and personally. In a strict scrutiny analysis, government cannot merely claim a compelling interest at a high level of generality, because the “compelling interest test under the First Amendment demands a more precise analysis.” See *Gonzales v. O Centro Espírita Beneficente União do Vegetal*, 546 U. S. 418, 430–432 (2006) (discussing the compelling interest test applied in *Sherbert* and *Wisconsin v. Yoder*, 406 U. S. 205 (1972)); see *Fulton v. City Of Philadelphia*, 593 U.S. at 14 (2021). Rather than rely on “broadly formulated interests,” courts must “scrutinize the asserted harm of granting specific exemptions to particular religious claimants.” *O Centro*, 546 U. S., at 431. The question, then, is not whether the Respondent has a compelling interest in enforcing these laws generally, but whether it has such an interest in denying an exemption to Appellant, individually. Appellant had explained to the municipal court, the Respondent’s prosecutor, and Mr. Hancock, via multiple motions, affidavits, emails and testimony that Appellant is very competent to drive, having previously been licensed for more than 25 years and having had only one driving accident during that time. Appellant is not frequently ticketed for

⁷ South Carolina § 1-32-40 states (bold and underline added), “The State may not substantially burden a person's exercise of religion, **even if the burden results from a rule of general applicability**, unless the State demonstrates that application of the burden...”

moving violations, and does not use drugs or drink alcohol. Once properly narrowed, Respondent's asserted interest is insufficient to constitute a Constitutionally genuine compelling state interest under strict scrutiny. Mr. Hancock, for political reasons, unreasonably refused to assist Appellant despite this fact. (See Emails).

Mr. Hancock refused to assist Appellant because he intentionally misinterpreted the case law underlying South Carolina § 1-32, *Wisconsin v. Yoder*, 406 U.S. 205 (1972), and *Sherbert v. Verner*, 374 U.S. 398 (1963). Mr. Hancock's explanation of the implications of *Wisconsin v. Yoder*: 406 U.S. 205 (1972) was completely incorrect. His first position was that *Yoder* was a driver's license case that was decided in favor of the state's right to require licensing. When Appellant informed Mr. Hancock that the case was actually a First Amendment religious exercise case, Mr. Hancock responded that despite his earlier inaccuracy, the case was decided in favor of the state's right to compel licensing or performance under the circumstances. This was also incorrect. In *Yoder*, the U.S. Supreme Court ruled 7-0 that the state of Wisconsin violated the First Amendment to the Constitution, and had no right to compel performance or punish noncompliance with its law. In deciding to abandon Appellant, Mr. Hancock denied this fact. (See Emails).

Mr. Hancock refused to assist Appellant because he refused to take notice that the frequency with which Respondent or the State actually grants the exemptions in question is irrelevant. As the Supreme Court stated in *Fulton v. City Of Philadelphia*, 593 U.S. (2021), quoting *Smith*, 494 U. S., at 884, "The creation of a formal mechanism for granting exceptions renders a policy not generally applicable, regardless whether any exceptions have been given, because it "invite[s]" the government to decide which reasons for not complying with the policy are worthy of solicitude." (See Emails).

It is surely obvious to this Court that any untimeliness, between the remittance of the appeal from the South Carolina Court Of Appeals and Appellant's filing of the appeal to the circuit court, should be excused, as it was a direct result of Appellant being abandoned by Mr. Hancock. Rather than acting as Appellant's advocate, Mr. Hancock acted as an adversary, seemingly providing intentionally ineffective and sub-standard assistance to Appellant. (See Emails).

Outside of delays caused by the interference and or incompetence of Mr. Hancock, whom Appellant requested to be relieved from his appointment, Appellant did give notices such as those required by South Carolina § 14-25-95, within the 10 day period allowed for giving notice of intent to appeal. Likewise, Appellant filed proper pleadings in a timely manner. See Record.

South Carolina Code § 14-25-95 does not address any time requirement outside of the time allowed for giving notice of intent to appeal, and pertains only to appeals from a municipal court to a court of common pleas (i.e circuit court). This makes Appellant's compliance with South Carolina § 14-25-95 non-determinant in the Supreme Court Of South Carolina's (or by referral, the Court Of Appeals') consideration of the timeliness of this appeal. This appeal is proper under South Carolina § 18-9-10 and §§ 14-3-330 (2)(a), and (2)(c).

Further, Appellant has never knowingly or intentionally waived his rights to religious freedom, right to counsel, and trial by jury. Since South Carolina § 14-3-330 (1) and (2)(a) allow appeals for the enforcement of Appellant's unwaived, substantial Constitutionally protected rights, timeliness must give way to getting things right, otherwise Constitutional violations of substantive protected rights will continue to occur. In this case, Respondent is putting Appellant on trial for his Constitutionally protected religious practice. Concurrent with Respondent's unlawful burdening of Appellant's free exercise of religion, Respondent has repeatedly failed to

"demonstrate" as required by South Carolina § 1-32 and the Constitutions, even though Appellant has made multiple proper demands that Respondent do so. Respondent's prosecution of Appellant, and its refusal to allow Appellant lawful accommodation by dropping the charges, is a further unlawful substantial burden on Appellant's protected right of religious freedom. In this case, where Appellant has not waived his rights and the damage from the municipal court's ruling to Appellant's rights has already occurred, or is reasonably foreseeable and preventable/correctable, courts within this State must be able to review the record and ensure Appellant suffers no further Constitutional harm. All levels of this State's judiciary, from its municipal court to its highest court, so far, have failed to force Respondent to comply with the law. See Notice Of Appeal To Supreme Court, Referral to Court Of Appeals, Appeal to Circuit Court.

The circuit court did not acknowledge that Appellant's Pro Se appeal is properly addressed by South Carolina §§ 14-3-330 (1), (2)(a), and/or (2)(c). The circuit court's decision hinging on whether the untrained, Pro Se Appellant misnamed an intermediate order an interlocutory one should not disallow his appeal. Further, South Carolina § 14-3-330 (1) pertains to "Any intermediate judgment, order or decree in a law case...", while South Carolina § 14-3-330 (2)(a) applies to "(2) An order affecting a substantial right made in an action..." This Court can see that while South Carolina § 14-3-330 (1) is more limited, South Carolina § 14-3-330 (2)(a) is apparently not limited to orders at any particular stage of litigation.

If the circuit court cannot decide the appeal under South Carolina § 14-3-330 (1) and (2)(a) that is understandable, because that statute gives jurisdiction over such appeals to the South Carolina Supreme Court. However, it cannot be the case that the South Carolina Supreme Court will not decide the appeal on the merits, or that it would refer the appeal to the South

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