RECEIVED

Jul 19 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000168

Johnathan M. Daniels,

Appellant,

v.

City of Cayce,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Danny C. Crowe (SC Bar No. 1480)
City Attorney for the City of Cayce
CROWE LAFAVE GARFIELD & BAGLEY, LLC
2019 Park Street
Columbia, SC 29201
Phone: 803-724-5728
danny@crowelafave.com

Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE MUNICIPAL COURT ORDERS ON PRE-TRIAL MOTIONS WERE NOT IMMEDIATELY APPEALABLE AS A “SENTENCE OR JUDGMENT” UNDER S.C. CODE SECTION 14-25-95.

As the first of its two dispositive grounds for dismissal, the circuit court determined that Appellant’s action was not properly an appeal “from the sentence or judgment of the municipal court” as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 14-25-95 (“Appeals to Court of Common Pleas; procedures

and time limits”). (Circuit Court Order p. 1) (R. p. 8). Section 14-25-95 provides in pertinent part, that:

Any party shall have the right to appeal from the sentence or judgment of the municipal court to the Court of Common Pleas of the county in which the trial is held. Notice of intention to appeal, setting forth the grounds for appeal, must be given in writing and served on the municipal judge or the clerk of the municipal court within ten days after the sentence is passed or judgment entered, or the appeal is considered waived.

The circuit court concluded that Appellant’s action concerned three pre-trial interlocutory motions consisting of the denial of Appellant’s motion to “quash,” denial of Appellant’s motion to dismiss, and the grant of the City’s motion in limine, all made while the case was (and is) pending in municipal court and before trial, conviction, or sentencing. (Circuit Court Order p. 1) (R. p. 8). Additionally, the motions are not final in nature and can be renewed (or overturned in the case of the motion in limine) prior to or at the eventual trial.

Appellant’s argument in brief and throughout the record assumes, without legal authority, that the “burden on religious expression” provision (S.C. Code Ann. § 1-32-50) of the South Carolina Religious Freedom Act (“SCRFA”) (S.C. Code Ann. § 1-32-10 et seq.) somehow operates as a pre-emptive bar to continued prosecution of his traffic charges. However, § 1-32-50 (“If a person’s exercise of religion has been burdened in violation of this chapter, the person may assert the violation as a claim or defense in a judicial proceeding...”) provides only that the asserted “burden on religious expression” is “a claim or defense” and does not provide, for example, for immunity from prosecution.

The distinction between immunity from prosecution and a mere defense to prosecution is illustrated in the discussion of immunity arising under the Protection of Persons and Property Act

(S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-440 et seq.) (known informally as the “Stand Your Ground Law”) in State v. Sims, 423 S.C. 397, 401, 814 S.E.2d 632, 633-634 (Ct. App. 2018):

Sims is right that the Act is more than a defense to a criminal charge; a defendant who proves his use of deadly force was justified by the Act is immune from prosecution. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A); State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 410, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011)) (“[W]e find that, by using the words ‘immune from prosecution,’ the legislature intended to create a true immunity, and not simply an affirmative defense...Immunity under the Act is therefore a bar to prosecution...”).

Nevertheless, despite the significance of immunity, even the pre-trial denial of a request for immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act is not immediately appealable. State v. McCarty, 437 S.C. 355, 369, 878 S.E.2d 902, 910 (2022); State v. Isaac, 405 S.C. 177, 182, 747 S.E.2d 677, 679 (2013).

The City urges that the circuit court’s non-appealability ground for dismissal is a correct interpretation and application of § 14-25-95. The language of § 14-25-95 limiting appeals to those from a “sentence or judgment” of the municipal court is clear and explicit and contains no exceptions on its face. Additionally, the “sentence or judgment” language describing when an appeal may be taken to circuit court is in accord with the State case law that a criminal defendant, generally, may not appeal until sentence is imposed. State v. Isaac, 405 S.C. 177, 183, 747 S.E.2d 677, 680 (2013). State v. Isaac not only states this general law but also illustrates it with multiple examples of its application. Id.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT APPELLANT’S APPEAL FROM MUNICIPAL COURT TO CIRCUIT COURT IN JULY 2023, FOLLOWING REMITTITUR TO MUNICIPAL COURT FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS IN MARCH 2023, WAS UNTIMELY UNDER S.C. CODE SECTION 14-25-95.

The second sentence of S.C. Code § 14-25-95 (“Appeals to Court of Common Pleas; procedures and time limits”) sets out the time deadline for appeal from municipal court to circuit

court. The Code section requires service of a notice of intention to appeal on the municipal court judge or municipal court clerk “within ten days after the sentence is passed or judgment entered...”

The untimeliness of Appellant’s attempted appeal in this case is clear.

The Court of Appeals issued its Remittitur to the Cayce Municipal Court on March 10, 2023, under Appellate Case No. 2022-001598. (Remittitur Order) (R. p. 7). Appellant filed his Notice of Criminal Appeal in the Lexington County Court of Common Pleas on July 27, 2023. (Notice of Criminal Appeal filed July 27, 2023) (R. pp. 282-295). Appellant served the Notice of Appeal on the City Prosecutor and City Judge on July 28, 2023. (Affidavit of Service filed August 4, 2023) (R. p. 93).

The Notice of Criminal Appeal filed in circuit court included challenges to the 2021 and 2022 Municipal Court rulings that were the subject of the appeal in the Court of Appeals for which the Remittitur was issued in March 2023. (Notice of Criminal Appeal pp. 1-2, 5-10 and 11-13) (R. pp. 282-283, 286-294). The Notice of Criminal Appeal was served on the City more than 21 months after the 2021 motion ruling in the Municipal Court, more than nine months after the 2022 motion rulings in the Municipal Court, and more than four months after the Remittitur.

The circuit court correctly determined that the clear and plain untimeliness of the appeal (even if considered as an appropriate appeal involving “sentence or judgment”) undercut the circuit court’s jurisdiction to hear the appeal. “The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, *i.e.*, if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to ‘rescue’ the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.” Elam v. S.C. Department of Transportation, 361 S.C. 9, 14-15, 602 S.E.2d 772,775 (2004).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated and apparent from the record, the City urges that this Court affirm the judgment of the circuit court that dismissed Appellant's appeal to the circuit court.